
Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 1 

6:30 PM Chair Carpenter opened the meeting and asked all those present to stand for the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
Members Present: Mark Carpenter, Mary Bonser and Donna Danis 
Others: Charles A. Brown – Town Administrator, Dawn Wirkkala – Secretary, Chris Sterndale, 
Paul Colby, Chris Pappas, Sandra Vilchock, James Calderone, Bob Desrosiers, Jaye Vilchock, 
Heidi Carlson, Jude Thibault, Jean Kane, Seth Peters, Elizabeth Saunders, John Morin, Scott 
LaPointe 
NON-PUBLIC SESSION: The Board entered non-public under RSA 91-A:3 II(b) 
6:35 PM Motion: Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to enter non-public under RSA 91-A:3 II(b). 
Roll Call Vote: Bonser – Yea, Carpenter – Yea, Danis – Yea.  3 – 0 in favor. 
Motion: Ms. Bonser, second Ms. Danis to exit the non-public session at 6:45 pm. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Motion: Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to seal the non-public minutes of May 5, 2014. 
Roll Call Vote: Bonser – Yea, Carpenter – Yea, Danis – Yea.  3 – 0 in favor. 
Chair Carpenter announced that Mr. Christopher Sterndale has been hired as the new Town 
Administrator and would be starting Monday, May 12, 2014.  The Town reviewed 16 resumes, 
interviewed 5 candidates, and Mr. Sterndale was the candidate selected. 
Fire Department: Chief Vilchock introduced the new full time Fire Fighter/EMT, Mr. James 
Calderone and reviewed his prior work experience. 
Chief Vilchock stated he expects to have candidate interviews for the vacant third position soon; 
candidates are completing required academy training and qualifications. 
MANIFEST SIGNATURE:  
Motion: by Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to approve the May 5, 2014 manifest. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Town Administrator and Department Reports, Mail/Correspondence and Signature Items:  
Mr. Brown stated salary history forms need initials, the Pole License signed at the April 21st 
Selectmen Meeting needed additional signatures, and there were additional emails from the 
Conservation Commission for Selectmen review. 
Chair Carpenter confirmed the Selectmen would meet with the Conservation Commission on June 
2nd to review the provided easement data and information. 
APPOINTMENTS:  
7:00 pm: Executive Councilor Pappas – Councilor Pappas stated he is the Executive Counselor 
for District 4 and has scheduled meetings with each of the Town’s he represents to review his 
duties, answer questions that might be asked, and receive any thoughts or concerns Towns might 
have.  Councilor Pappas reviewed the tasks the Council is required to complete, which included 
approving state agency and county contracts, accept federal grants, and work significantly with the 
Governor to complete necessary state department tasks.  Councilor Pappas stated the Executive 
Council addresses all the appointments for state boards and committees. 
The Council recently passed a Highway/Department of Transportation preservation plan to repair 
and maintain the conditions of state roads.  While there were no current federal funds, some funds 
would be coming with the new $0.042 gas tax; some funding will be applied to the Highway Block 
Grants which are distributed to municipalities. 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 2 

Ms. Bonser stated Nottingham is in good shape, as it does not have any bridges on the Red or 
Yellow repair list.  Mr. Brown and the Road Agent made significant effort to complete necessary 
repairs.  Mr. Brown stated funds have been received from FEMA in the past for repairs and the 
Block Grant also plays a part. 
Councilor Pappas stated periodic emails are sent out to the municipalities informing them of issues 
and items the Executive Council has addressed. 
Chair Carpenter asked what the Executive Council is doing to try and encourage new businesses to 
come to NH.  Councilor Pappas stated the Commissioner of Economic Development is working on 
developing new relationships and expressing the benefits NH can offer to new companies.  Ms. 
Bonser stated she is concerned about the ever increasing layers governing small businesses making 
it more difficult to operate; asking for a NHDES review of rules and regulations.  Councilor Pappas 
stated he believes strongly in greater customer service and making state agencies more user friendly 
is something he is working on. 
Ms. Danis asked Councilor Pappas about the types of issues Nottingham could receive help with.  
Councilor Pappas stated any dangerous intersection or road conditions, environmental issues, any 
situation that he might help connect the Town to the appropriate department official.  Ms. Danis 
expressed her concern about Coe Brown Northwood Academy students exiting the parking lot, 
crossing the extremely busy Route 4 and asked if a light could be installed for their safety; it is a 
very dangerous intersection.  Police assistance is provided during the before school drop off and 
after school pick-up, but not later during the day when after school activities are completed. 
Councilor Pappas stated he would be willing to look into the situation. 
Ms. Bonser thanked Councilor Pappas for coming, as she couldn’t remember anyone coming 
before. 
Councilor Pappas thanked the Selectmen for the time and the Selectmen thanked Councilor Pappas 
for coming. 
7:15 pm: Realtor Jean Kane – Ms. Kane stated she is the realtor for the USA Springs property.  
Mr. Colby stated any discussion regarding the topic should be very generic and non-specific.  Ms. 
Kane stated the property was marketed in the fall of 2013 as an Industrial property and received no 
response; it was then changed to Commercial which with low traffic counts has proven difficult to 
draw in an anchor store, and interest has been expressed with consideration for residential 
development.  However, residential property development has also indicated possible difficulties 
with higher development costs and they are seeking cluster development plans or conservation 
deals.  Ms. Kane asked the Selectmen if there were any incentives the Town offers for potential 
developments.  Mr. Colby stated Nottingham offers Open Space Development, which includes both 
cluster development combined with conservation that might help with residential development. 
Chair Carpenter and Ms. Bonser asked about methods that might be considered to encourage 
Commercial development, such as a distribution center.  Ms. Kane stated her company has reached 
out to a variety of types of Industrial and Commercial companies for potential purchase and 
development but they are concerned with the additional expenses that might be needed because of 
the bankruptcy, developers but they are concerned about how long they might need to hold the 
property, and the lack of response is unusual given the length of road frontage, but has had the 
majority of interest from residential development.   



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 3 

Ms. Kane stated her company completed an independent appraisal of the property using multiple 
Commercial/Industrial comparison properties within Rockingham County to establish a sale price of 
$1.9 million dollars. 
Ms. Bonser asked if demolition of the existing structure would assist in the sale.  Ms. Kane stated it 
is her understanding that the building will need to be demolished.   
General discussion took place about possible uses of the property.  Ms. Kane stated the front portion 
of the property might receive more interest for retail development if there was residential 
development at the back of the property to help support tenants of the retail space. 
Mr. Colby stated he has had some discussion with Ms. Kane trying to find a suitable use for the 
property given its history.  Meeting with the Planning and Zoning Board isn’t possible without a 
new owner. 
The Selectmen agreed commercial development would be preferred and stated if there is anything 
the Town can do to help, Ms. Kane is welcome to contact them.   
The Selectmen thanked Ms. Kane for keeping the Board of Selectmen informed of the process. 
7:30 pm: Seth Peters/Winter Street Driveway Permit – Mr. Peters stated he was seeking a 
driveway permit and that he has road frontage on Winter Street.  A civil engineer has completed 
deed research, going back to the 1700’s that documents access on Winter Street and he would like 
to find a way to make the property viable, is not interested in a sub-division, and wanted to install a 
10 foot drive with as little impact as possible on Winter Street. 
Chair Carpenter stated the Selectmen had previously discussed the driveway permit and requested 
taking the right steps to make sure all the necessary information is received.  However there are 
now questions about the Selectmen’s involvement in the process. 
Mr. Colby stated the original driveway permit for Mr. Peters was rescinded because it was issued in 
error as an abutter presented information that the Peter’s property had no road frontage on Kennard 
Road.  The Town had received prior property surveys which indicated that portion of Winter Street 
had been discontinued by an Act of 1842 and additional research and survey indicates Winter Street 
isn’t a town road.  Mr. Colby reviewed information provided by a legal representative of the Local 
Government Center (LGC) about legalities of roads, road history and acceptance of roads, which 
include acceptance of any original Town rangeways.  Mr. Colby stated the LGC information 
encourages Towns to stay out of the process dealing with rangeways and disputes about road access 
on the rangeways.  Mr. Colby stated the reference portion of Winter Street was never developed by 
the Town and there may be legal precedent that the road may already be considered abandoned. 
Mr. Brown stated while there has never been a road, there is also no such thing as a land locked 
property; every property has some type of road access but it is up to the property owner to establish 
that access.  Mr. Colby stated Mr. Peters needs to establish the owner of the property that is 
considered Winter Street and those owner(s) would provide him the needed access. 
Mr. Peters stated he disagrees with Mr. Colby and provided copies of a Supreme Court case, 
Michael E. Gill versus Stephen G. Gerrato ruling that disputes the information Mr. Colby presented.  
Winter Street is the only access provided to the properties and the surveys completed for Ms. 
Saunders indicates there is a Winter Street.  Property deeds consistently reference Winter Street as 
the access, original rangeways establish Winter Street, and in his opinion the ruling and current law 
indicates it is a road. 
Discussion took place about rangeways, how they were originally established, and the number of 
differing opinions regarding rangeways and roads.  Those in attendance reviewed information 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 4 

provided in the Saunders survey’s as well as the current Town Tax Map which has known errors 
regarding Mr. Peter’s land.   
Ms. Danis asked what the role of the Board of Selectmen is in the process.  Mr. Colby stated the 
Selectmen have no role in the appeal process; a driveway permit was issued and rescinded because 
of an issuing error and Mr. Peter’s needs to appeal the decision to the Zoning Board. 
Ms. Bonser stated the Town should determine if it has any responsibility regarding this issue as 
Winter Street was at some point a paper road. 
Mr. Peters stated information from the court case indicates despite considered closures in the 
1800’s, rangeways should still be considered a road.   
Chair Carpenter requested opinions from Mr. Colby and Mr. Brown regarding this issue, stating Ms. 
Bonser made a good point about Winter Street being a possible road and asked for Town council 
should be contacted for a legal determination about Winter Street.  The Selectmen need to 
determine what, if any action is required from the Board of Selectmen regarding Winter Street.   
Mr. Colby stated the appeal of the rescinded driveway permit will go before the Zoning Board and 
the information supplied by Mr. Peters should be included as evidence in his appeal.  However, if 
Mr. Peter’s agrees, further research can take place to determine the legal status of Winter Street as a 
road, possibly preventing the need for an appeal based on the response from Town council.  Mr. 
Brown stated Town Council should be contacted for an opinion to make sure the correct action is 
being taken.  Chair Carpenter stated the Selectmen can not currently take any actions regarding this 
situation. 
Building Permits: Mr. Colby reviewed the number of building permits the Town has received for 
2014, which currently match the total that was received in all of 2013.  A number of new house 
permits are expected, along with a couple of new sub-divisions that are in the works and revenues 
will be much more than expected. 
OUTSTANDING MINUTES:  
Motion: Ms. Bonser, second Ms. Danis to approve the minutes of the April 7, 2014 meeting as 
amended. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Motion: Ms. Danis, second by Ms. Bonser to approve the minutes of the April 21, 2014 meeting as 
amended. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Board of Selectmen Reports: 
Recreation: Ms. Danis reviewed upcoming activities for the Recreation Department – Fishing 
Derby on May 10th, a Senior Lunch on May 21st, and the Senior Picnic will be on June 18th.  
Marston Property Exploratory Committee (MPEC): Ms. Danis stated a list of individuals has 
been established and participation requests to be on the committee have been sent.  The first 
meeting will be Monday, May 12 at 6:30 pm and it will be televised.  Monthly meetings are 
anticipated but more will be held if needed. 
Mr. Brown stated he has received one bid for the Marston property demolition and a request for 
additional information has been received from another. 
Planning Board: Ms. Bonser asked the Selectmen to review and comment on a new Lot 
Disturbance and Landscaping Ordinance.  She is concerned about the proposed ordinance and has 
received citizen comments and concern as well.   



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 5 

Chair Carpenter stated the Planning Board heard a lot of comments and concerns during the public 
hearing about the proposed Open Space Ordinance earlier this year, prior to Town Meeting.  
Statements have been made that the Planning Board is recommending ordinances that follow Master 
Plan recommendations.  However there wasn’t a lot of public participation and minimal comments 
were received when the Master Plan Sub-Committee completed their updates and changes to the 
Master Plan.  Chair Carpenter asked for the Planning Board to consider taking a step back and 
review existing ordinances, public response to recent proposals and determine what might be the 
best changes moving forward. 
Ms. Bonser stated she believes the proposed ordinance was drafted by a Planner who doesn’t 
necessarily understand what is best for the Town of Nottingham and this type of ordinance is 
making Nottingham too controlling about property rights. 
Ms. Danis stated she is concerned that the ordinance purpose indicates it is to protect the health and 
safety of the property and residents, and doesn’t understand how it will protect health and safety.  
There is also concern about how restrictive portions of the proposal are being presented.  Ms. Danis 
stated she agrees with the Selectmen’s prior conversation about the Planning Board pausing and 
reviewing how the current ordinances are working. 
Ms. Bonser stated she brought the suggestion about reviewing existing ordinance to the Planning 
Board, presenting a scenario and following it through the entire Planning and Zoning process, 
however, Planning members did not feel it was necessary.  Ms. Bonser asked if the Selectmen 
should send a more formal letter to the Planning Board with the recommendation to review existing 
ordinances before introducing more. 
Chair Carpenter stated he is concerned about the Town spending a lot of money on ordinances that 
will receive huge public opposition.  Ms. Danis asked if it was appropriate to send a letter and Mr. 
Brown stated he would draft a letter for the Selectmen, Chair Carpenter stated he would also gather 
information for the letter. 
General Business: 
May Day Baskets: Chair Carpenter thanked the individuals who participated in the May Day 
Basket program.  Those being thanked included all the volunteers and business that provided 
donations to fill the baskets, those who put the baskets together and those who delivered the 
baskets.  Chair Carpenter stated the May Day Baskets program is privately funded and operated by 
Nottingham citizens, providing a gift to those who had a hard year, and stated the program does not 
receive any funding from the Town.  Mr. Brown stated positive responses have been received by the 
recipients. 
Recycle Center: The Selectmen reviewed the new sign quotes for the Recycle Center asking for 
additional information regarding delivery time.  The Selectmen stated the lowest bidder, NH 
Department of Corrections, should be selected if they could provide a delivery time within 30 days.   
The Selectmen reviewed the information about providing drinkable water to the Recycle Center, the 
lack of commercial water delivery and the available alternatives.  Discussion took place about water 
dispensers and the Selectmen requested a dispense with a bottom load to eliminate having to lift the 
5 gallon bottles and one that has both hot and cold water.  WB Mason will deliver 5 gallon bottles 
of water either to the Town Office or if able, directly to the Recycle Center during their open hours. 
Ms. Wirkkala stated Mr. Cinfo needs the updated version of the policies to include with a grant 
request.  The Selectmen reviewed the amendments to the center policies. 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 6 

Motion: by Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to accept the Town of Nottingham Access to the 
Recycling Center Facilities Policy as amended and corrected. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Motion: by Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to accept the Town of Nottingham Recycling / Trash 
Disposal Policy as amended and corrected. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor.   
Board of Selectmen/School Board Joint Meeting: The Selectmen determined they wanted to try and 
meet with the Nottingham School Board on June 16, 2014 at 7:00 pm. 
Proposed topics for discussion would be the Marston Property, Recycling Video with the students, 
and the Selectmen would consider other issues.   
Space needs would not be discussed because there has been no movement with the prior discussion. 
New Video/Audio Equipment: The Selectmen were presented the quotes for new video and audio 
equipment for Conference Room #2 and the Gym.  Chair Carpenter asked to review the proposal in 
more detail at the next meeting.   
Chair Carpenter asked about also adding an additional projector feed to Conference Room #1.  Ms. 
Bonser asked about an on-demand service for meetings.  Ms. Danis stated she supported the 
projector feed and a new review of on-demand service. 
The Selectmen requested another review for possible on-demand video service. 
Highway: Mr. Brown reviewed the paving bids for road construction and reconstruction of Lincoln 
Drive and Berry Road.  A request was received to hot top areas at the Recycle Center but the 
current budget does not support the request.   
Mr. Brown presented the received bid amounts and the recommendation of Mr. Brown and the 
Road Agent was for R&D Paving to provide the binding material at $69.15/ton and the top coat at 
$70.50/ton and All State Asphalt was selected to complete the reclaiming at $0.70/squar yard. 
Motion: by Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to accept Mr. Brown and Mr. Fernald’s 
recommendations for All State Asphalt for reclaiming and R&D Paving for the binding and top coat 
materials. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor.   
Property Liability Quotes: Mr. Brown reviewed the four received quotes stating the Town must 
make a decision and respond to the quotes within nine days, before the current policy needs to be 
renewed.  Mr. Brown stated some mistakes were made on a quote regarding the number of vehicles 
and over valuing building contents which should change the quote. 
Mr. Brown reviewed information regarding a statute that applies to group pool insurance coverage.  
The statute appears to indicate a maximum amount of liability, but then seems to contradict itself 
and clarification about how the statute applies to municipalities is needed.   
General discussion about the meaning of the statute took place.   The Selectmen were concerned 
about who would be responsible for any additional funds if a lawsuit is brought against the Town 
with an award that is higher than the Town’s liability amount.  Mr. Brown stated he did not have the 
answer but he would ask the insurance agents the question. 
Mr. Brown stated he would like to receive an answer from the Selectmen tonight.   



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

May 5, 2014 
 

Approved as Amended 5/19/2014 7 

Ms. Danis stated it is difficult to offer a direction with so many questions outstanding.  Ms. Bonser 
stated she is willing to stay with PLT for another year until more information regarding the process 
can be determined.  Chair Carpenter stated he has more questions regarding the liability insurance. 
The Selectmen asked Mr. Brown to determine answers to their questions and considered staying 
with PLT.  Chair Carpenter asked to have the insurance company provide the answer via email for a 
faster response 
Ms. Danis asked about the coverage period and Mr. Brown stated it is July 1, 2014 to June 30, 
2015. 
Motion: by Ms. Bonser, second by Ms. Danis to remain with Property Liability if Mr. Brown 
receives satisfactory answers to questions asked by the Board of Selectmen. 
Ms. Bonser stated in order to meet the nine day deadline the Town should remain with PLT, the 
Town has received good service and most policies are very similar overall; as long as the Town has 
property liability coverage. 
Ms. Danis stated as she is new to this process and as the Selectmen have additional questions, she 
would prefer to have another meeting to review the details of the proposals.  Chair Carpenter agreed 
to another meeting to gather answers before making a decision.  The Selectmen agreed to another 
meeting to review the material fully. 
Ms. Bonser withdrew her original motion to select PLT as the property liability company. 
Motion: by Ms. Danis, second by Ms. Bonser to meet for a brief meeting on Friday, May 9, 2014 at 
8:30 am for a brief meeting for the purpose of selecting a property liability company. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
ADJOURNMENT: Having no further business, 
9:30 PM Motion: by Ms. Danis, second by Ms. Bonser to adjourn. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Respectfully Submitted,  

Dawn Wirkkala 



<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true

  /AutoRotatePages /None

  /Binding /Left

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0.0000

  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK

  /DoThumbnails false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EndPage -1

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /LockDistillerParams false

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /Optimize true

  /OPM 1

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness true

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments true

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts true

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /AlwaysEmbed [ true

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [ true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /CropColorImages true

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleColorImages true

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /CropGrayImages true

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleGrayImages true

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /CropMonoImages true

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleMonoImages true

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXRegistryName ()

  /PDFXTrapped /False



  /CreateJDFFile false

  /Description <<



    /BGR <>

    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>

    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>

    /CZE <>

    /DAN <>

    /DEU <>

    /ESP <>

    /ETI <>

    /FRA <>

    /GRE <>



    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)

    /HUN <>

    /ITA <>

    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>

    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>

    /LTH <>

    /LVI <>

    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)

    /NOR <>

    /POL <>

    /PTB <>

    /RUM <>

    /RUS <>

    /SKY <>

    /SLV <>

    /SUO <>

    /SVE <>

    /TUR <>

    /UKR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK

      /DestinationProfileName ()

      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure false

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles false

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

  ]

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice



